IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 72,713

CIVIL ACTION NO.: 83-6869 ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA.

APPEAL NO.: 86-1140 DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ROBERT J. KATZ,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This cause rose out of an Agreement to sell a mobile home park to the Respondents, (hereinafter "SELLERS"), to the Petitioner, (hereinafter "BUYER"). Pursuant to the terms of the sales contract, the SELLERS warranted that "normal operating expenses" of the park would not exceed 32% of gross income.

Upon further investigation, prior to the closing, BUYER learned that such expenses far exceeded the 32% of the gross income and refused to close, eventually filing suit against the SELLERS for damages, breach of contract, fraud and rescission. BUYER, long before trial was instructed by the Trial Court to make an election of remedies between the various causes of action.

BUYER dropped this claim for rescission of the contract, and pursued only his claims for damages for breach of contract and fraud. The SELLERS counter-sued for breach of contract, fraud and misrepresentation.

A jury trial was held in the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida, and verdict was returned finding the BUYER had breached the contract and awarded SELLERS a judgment of \$25,000.00 representing the earnest money the BUYER had deposited with SELLER prior to closing. Subsequent to this verdict, and upon BUYERS motion, the trial judge entered a judgment non obstante veredicto based on his determination that as a matter of law and by the contract's unambiguous definition of normal operating expenses, BUYER had not breached the contract. The

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

1

•. *

•."

Trial Court ordered that the \$25,000.00 earnest money be returned to the BUYER and BUYER be entitled to a new trial on the issue of damages.

This judgment was appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Van der Noord v. Katz</u>, 481 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) (the "first appeal") which affirmed the judgment n.o.v. and returned the \$25,000.00 earnest money, but reversed as to the issue of a new trial for the BUYER'S damages.

Upon remand the BUYER filed a motion for costs and attorneys' fees based on Paragraph 20 of the contract, which provides in pertinent part:

> "In the event of any litigation between the parties growing out of this Agreement, prevailing party shall be reimbursed upon reasonable costs and expenses, including but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees."

The BUYER'S Motion for Attorneys' Fees was heard on May 28, 1986, and Judge Pfeiffer, finding that SELLERS had been a big factor in the escalated costs of litigation, entered an award of attorneys' fees in the amount of \$68,391.00 against the SELLERS. (Appendix P. 1-4).

SELLERS again appealed this award (the "second appeal") on the bases that the BUYER did not properly introduce its evidence of fees and that the fees were unreasonable. At oral argument, the unreasonableness argument was abandoned.

The Fifth District of Appeal issued its decision of May 12, 1988, denying BUYERS attorneys' fees based not upon the trial record, but upon a wholly new issue raised by the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (Appendix P. 4). The Fifth District Court of

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

• *

. .

ч.,

Appeal claimed even though it was never argued by the parties and is factually untrue, that BUYER rescinded the contract. BUYER subsequently on May 27, 1988, filed his Motion and Request for Rehearing <u>en banc</u> to the which the SELLERS filed their Response and Motion to Strike or Deny Motion for Rehearing June 6, 1988. The Fifth District of Appeal denied the Motion for Rehearing on June 23, 1988 (Appendix), and Petitioners filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Honorable Supreme Court on July 5, 1988. This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction on October 4, 1988.

ς.

٩.,

,

• *

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Three different District Courts of Appeal have passed on the issue of whether a party who has prevailed in litigation arising out of the underlying contract should be entitled to attorneys' fees when the contract has found to be unenforceable or rescinded. The three District Courts of Appeal, the Fifth, Fourth and Third, have taken somewhat different views.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal has found that if the litigation arose out of the interpretation of the contract, then notwithstanding the remedy sought or the enforceability of the contract the prevailing party should be entitled to a reasonable attorneys' fee and costs. On the opposite end of the spectrum, the Fifth District Court of Appeal has found that notwithstanding a valid underlying contract, if a party seeks rescission or repudiation of the contract, then the contract is annihilated and attorneys' fees provision thereunder is not available for the prevailing party. The middle ground has been staked out by the Third District Court of Appeal, which holds that if the underlying contract is valid notwithstanding the type of remedy sought by the party, the prevailing party should be entitled to attorneys' fees and costs.

Under the Fourth District Court of Appeals analysis, this Honorable Court should reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal because here the litigation arose out of an interpretation of the contract. Under this analysis, the BUYER having prevailed, he cannot be estopped from asserting his right to attorneys' fees

based on the initial contract.

•. -

Even if the Court does not follow the Fourth District Court of Appeal, this Court should still reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal based on the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion because as here, there was a valid underlying contract that survives the remedy granted by the Court.

And finally, the position taken by the Fifth District Court of Appeal fails to look at the underlying contract in determining whether or not the prevailing party should be entitled to attorneys' fees. The logic employed by the Fifth District Court is flawed and this Honorable Court should reverse based on the Third or the Fourth District Court of Appeal's holdings.

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

£,

FIRST ISSUE

THIS COURT SHOULD ADOPT <u>SOUSA V.</u> <u>PALUMBO</u> AND HOLD A PREVAILING PARTY IN LITIGATION WHO IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEYS' FEES UNDER EVEN AN INVALID CONTRACT DOES NOT LOSE THE RIGHT TO ATTORNEYS' FEES IF THE NON-PREVAILING PARTY ASSERTS THE VALIDITY OF THE CONTRACT.

On April 29, 1983, the parties to this lawsuit signed a contract for sale of a mobile home park in the City of Cocoa, Florida. The parties specifically agreed to Paragraph 20 of the contract, which relates to the issue of attorneys' fees:

> 20. "In the event of any litigation between the parties growing <u>out of</u> this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be reimbursed for all reasonable costs and expenses, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees." (Emphasis Added).

The Trial Court found and the Fifth District Court of Appeal later affirmed the Trial Court (except as to the new trial on damages, which was reversed) in the first appeal, based on the finding that the SELLERS had breached their contract with BUYER. <u>Van der Noord v. Katz</u>, 481 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

The BUYER, prior to trial, was required by the Trial Court to elect his remedy; in fact, at a hearing on February 15, 1984, the Trial Court required BUYER to elect his remedy. On March 12, 1984, BUYER specifically elected damages as his remedy and dismissed his count for rescission. The Court, after the appeal, awarded BUYER damages in the amount of \$25,000.00, plus costs, interest and attorneys' fees.

In the second appeal by the SELLERS in <u>Van der Noord v.</u>

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

. .

•

<u>Katz</u>, 13 F.L.W. 1179 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the Trial Court's award of attorneys' fees stating that the BUYER had elected the remedy of repudiation/rescission and by doing so:

> "The buyer extinguished and annihilated it [the contract] as effectually as if it had never existed and thereafter the buyer had no more right to recover under the Agreement in the form of attorneys' fees or otherwise than if it had never existed."

In the present case, however, the BUYER never reputiated or elected to rescind the contract. Furthermore, after the first appeal SELLERS never objected to the Trial Court's right to an award of attorneys' fees under the contract; all of SELLER'S objections were aimed at the competency of the evidence of reasonable attorneys' fees. As pointed out by Judge Upchurch in his dissenting opinion below in the second appeal, these issues were brought up unilaterally by the Fifth District on appeal. <u>See generally</u>, Van der Noord v. Katz, <u>supra</u>.

Even if this Honorable Court finds that the contract was rescinded dispite the Trial Court's Order and BUYER'S election of remedies to the contrary, this Court should still reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal and follow the holdings by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Sousa v. Palumb</u>o, 426 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), and <u>Bende v. McLaughilin</u>, 448 So.2d 1146 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Van der Noord</u> has taken the illogical position that if a party prevails at trial

÷,

for breach of an admittedly valid contract, and elects the <u>remedy</u> of rescission, the prevailing party cannot recover the attorneys' fees per a provision of the contract, because the original contract is "extinguished and annihilated". This position taken by the Fifth District is misguided.

The Fourth District as well as others including Judge Schwartz in his dissent in Leitman v. Boone, 439 So.2d 318 (Fla.3d DCA 1983) have chosen to take the more enlightened view of upholding attorneys' fees provisions versus the "vaporation theory" taken by Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Van der Noord</u>. The enlightened approach looks at the intent of the parties, the plain meaning of the attorneys' fee provision, as well as the parties' respective legal positions taken in the lawsuit. With respect to the plain meaning of the attorneys' fees clause, Judge Upchurch in his dissenting opinion in <u>Van der Noord</u> called attention to a significant point - that the attorneys' fees clause plainly states that:

> "The prevailing party be reimbursed for all litigation arising <u>out of</u> the parent agreement...". <u>Van der Noord</u>, 13 F.L.W. Fla. 5th DCA, 1988. (Emphasis Added).

Thus, the Court should look at the plain meaning of the attorneys' fees clause. The dissent in <u>Van der Noord</u> is therefore consistent with an enlightened view taken by the Fourth District in <u>Sousa</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In <u>Sousa v. Palumbo</u>, <u>supra</u>, the leading Fourth District case, the Appellant had filed an action for specific performance of a stock purchase agreement, and the Trial Court held that the

۴.

•. *

contract was unenforceable against the Appellees because the contract was only executed by three of six stockholders and that the contract was conditioned upon all six signatures before it became enforceable.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in reversing the Trial Court's decision not to award attorneys' fees, specifically looked at whether or not the Appellant's action was one to enforce or interpret the rights and obligations of the parties of the contract. The Court went on to say that even though the Appellant took the position that the contract was unenforceable, the litigation nevertheless arose out of the contract; therefore the prevailing party should not be estopped to envoke the provision of attorneys' fees just because they claimed that there was no enforceable contract. The Court went on to say that to estop the parties in such cases would be to ignore the plain meaning of the attorneys' fees position that provides for fees and costs to the prevailing party. <u>Sousa</u>, 426 So.2d 1072 at 1073.

The Fourth District again in <u>Bende v. McLaughilin</u>, <u>supra</u>, affirmed its decision in <u>Sousa</u> by upholding an award of attorneys' fees to the Defendant who was being sued for specific performance of a contract for sale of land and who prevailed.

In an analogous case law, <u>Rustic Village, Inc. v. Friedman</u>, 417 So.2d 305 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) and <u>Brown v. Gardens By the Sea</u> <u>South Condominium Association</u> 424 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (following <u>Rustic Village</u>), the Courts found that that when a defendant successfully argues, contrary to the plaintiff's contention that Section 501.2105 <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1981), did not

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

۴.

apply to the suit, the defendant should not be estopped from obtaining an award of attorneys' fees under the provision of the very statute which authorizes fees to a successful party in an action brought pursuant to its terms.

This analogous case law sheds light on Judge Upchurch's dissenting opinion in Van der Noord, where the distinction is made between the "agreement" and "litigation arising out of the Rustic Village and Brown stand for the proposition agreement". that when a cause of action falls agreeably under a statutory ambit, which allows for attorneys' fees, then the prevailing party is entitled to attorneys' fees whether or not the statute was ultimately applicable or not. By analogy, the dispositive factor is not whether the statute ultimately applies or whether the contract is enforceable, but rather whether the litigation arose over the enforcement of a statute or the interpretation of a contract. See also Business Aide Computer v. Central Florida Mack Truck, 432 So.2d 681 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); Care Construction, Inc. v. Century Convalescent Center, 126 Cal. Rptr. (4th DCA 1976); and Moulin Electric Corp., v. Roach, 175 Cal. Rptr. 111 (3d DCA 1981).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's position regarding this issue is more consistent with the public policy of the State of Florida. This Honorable Court has consistently upheld attorneys' fees provisions contained in contracts and statutes. <u>See</u> Estate of Hampton v. Fairchilds Florida Construction Co., 341 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1976); Kittel v. Kittel, 210, So.2d 1 (Fla. 1968); and Codomo v. Emanuel, 91 So.2d 653 (Fla. 1956).

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

. •

Moreover, the Florida Legislature this year passed Senate Bill 215 or Chapter Law 88-160, which provides that:

> "If a contract contains a provision allowing attorneys' fees to a party when he is required to take any action to enforce the contract, the Court may also allow reasonable attorneys' fees to the other party when that party <u>prevails in any action</u>, <u>whether as plaintiff or defendant</u>, with <u>respect to the contract</u>. (Emphasis Added) Chapter Law 88-160.

To the extent that the Florida Legislature and this Honorable Court set Florida public policy it would seem even to the most impartial observer that the Fourth District Court of Appeal's position in looking at the plain meaning of the attorneys' fees provisions is more in line with the view the Florida Legislature has taken and also with this Honorable Court's positions regarding upholding these attorneys' fees provisions. Compare Chapter Law 88-160 with the holding in <u>Sousa</u> <u>supra</u>, and <u>Bende supra</u>, versus the holding in <u>Van der Noord</u> <u>supra</u>, and the majority in <u>Leitman supra</u>.

If this Honorable Court is inclined to follow the Fourth District Court of Appeal's position regarding this legal issue then you should reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Van der Noord</u>, <u>supra</u>, because the issue litigated in this suit arose out of the contract which provided for attorneys' fees to the prevailing party. Sousa, <u>supra</u>.

٠.

•. *

. .

٩.

EVEN IF THIS COURT REJECTS <u>SOUSA V. PALUMBO</u>, WHICH AWARDS ATTORNEYS' FEES PURSUANT TO AN ATTORNEYS' FEES CLAUSE, EVEN WHEN THE UNDERLYING CONTRACT IS INVALID, IT SHOULD STILL ACCEPT <u>LEITMAN V. BOONE</u> AND REJECT <u>VAN DER NOORD</u> BECAUSE <u>VAN DER NOORD</u> ER-RONEOUSLY HOLDS THAT THE REMEDY OF RESCISSION VITIATES AN ADMITTEDLY VALID CONTRACT CLAUSE THAT PROVIDES FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES TO THE PRE-VAILING PARTY.

The parties to this lawsuit entered into a contract for the sale of a mobile home park on April 29, 1983. The document was properly executed and signed by all the parties. The contract contained all the necessary elements to insure its validity. The Fifth District Court of Appeal even affirmed the Trial Court's finding of fact which clearly indicated in paragraph 8 that the contract controlled the transaction.

> 8. "The contract is unambigious. It controlled the transaction. The March 15, 1983, memorandum between the parties was merged into, and superseded by the contract. <u>Van der Noord</u>, 481 So.2d 1228, at 1229.

The BUYER, prior to closing discovered that the SELLER had misrepresented what the normal operating expenses did not exceed the agreed-upon 32% of gross income. As a result of SELLER'S breach (misrepresentation), BUYER was forced to sue for breach of contract and damages. On February 15, 1984, the Trial Court, at a hearing, required the BUYER to elect his remedy. BUYER elected to sue for damages on the breach of contract. (See Appendix P-5, P-10). Further, on August 17, 1984, at a hearing on a Motion for

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

٩,

Directed Verdict, the Court specifically addressing the question BUYER'S causes of action, BUYER'S attorney stated:

Mr. Simmons: "We did have a fourth cause of action which, at the beginning of this lawsuit, which was rescission, we elected to forego and made our election of remedy so we do have the breach of contract." (Appendix P. 10).

In Leitman v. Boone, supra, the Third District Court of Appeal staked out a middle ground on the positions taken by the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Third District Court of Appeal held that the underlying contract's validity was a condition precedent to asserting the attorneys' fees clause by the prevailing party regardless of the remedy sought. See Leitman v. Boone, 439 So.2d 318, at 321. This differs from the Fourth District Court of Appeal's position, which relies upon whether the litigation arose out of the contract and not upon the validity of the underlying contract. See generally Sousa v. Palumbo, supra.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal, however, has taken a much different approach because they choose not to look at whether the underlying contract was valid or invalid (Third District position) or whether the litigation arose out of the contract (Fourth District). The Fifth District looks solely at the type of remedy the parties employ seeking resolution to the contract. <u>See generally</u>, Katz v. Van der Noord, <u>supra</u>.

In <u>Leitman</u>, the Trial Court found that the defendants had not accepted the Plaintiff's offer to purchase in a manner con-

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

. 2

٩.

templated by the parties, that is, by executing the deposit receipt form; thus, no contract to sell the real estate ever existed. Because the underlying contract never existed, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the Trial Court's award of attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to the attorneys' fee clause of the contract, citing <u>Brickeltown, Inc. v. Hirschfield</u>, 404 So.2d 153 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), <u>rev. den.</u>, 412 So.2d 466, (Fla. 1982).

If this Honorable Court accepts the <u>Leitman</u> majority opinion, then this Court should also reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal's holding in the case at bar. Here, it is very clear that there was a valid contract for the sale of a mobile home park on April 29, 1983. This fact, i.e., the validity of the underlying contract, under <u>Leitman</u> is the lynchpin in determining whether the attorneys' fees provision clause will be available to the prevailing party. The Third District Court of Appeal, here, would award the BUYER attorneys' fees pursuant to the fees provision of the contract, because there was a valid underlying contract. <u>See</u> Leitman v. Boone, 429 So.2d 318 at 321.

As was pointed out earlier, the lynchpin for the Fourth District Court of Appeal, as set out in <u>Sousa</u>, is not whether there was a valid underlying contract, but rather whether the litigation arose out of the contract. If this Court is inclined to follow the logic employed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Sousa</u>, then you should reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal's holding. See <u>Van der Noord</u>, 481 So.2d 1228.

Now we turn to the Fifth District Court of Appeal's position

SF-BRF (HD)/3318 103188/3

<u>.</u> - -

taken in the case at bar. The Fifth District has taken the position in <u>Van der Noord</u> that notwithstanding whether the underlying contract was valid or whether the litigation arose out of the contract, the contract is extinguished and annihilated if the prevailing party seeks a remedy of rescission. This is not the position taken by the BUYER in the case at bar. Even if this Court finds, however, that BUYERS did seek rescission of the contract, you should still reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal because the underlying contract was valid.

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