THE STATE OF FLOR

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 72,713

CIVIL ACTION NO.: 83-6869 ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPEAL NO.: 86-1140 DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ROBERT J. KATZ,

Petitoner,

vs.

HARRY VAN DER NOORD, et al.,

Respondents.

CLEXA SUPPLEME COURT

Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENTS ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES HOLCOMB, ESQUIRE
Law Offices of Holcomb & Deans
9 Magnolia Street
Cocoa, Florida 32922
(407) 639-2000

Attorneys for Respondents, HARRY VAN DER NOORD and ROBERT UNDERWOOD d/b/a INDIANA EXCHANGER PARINERSHIP

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

Appellee will claim the trial court precluded Daniel P. Rooney from testifying, supposedly because the testimony he would present would be repetitive to his Affidavit as he alleged in his Answer Brief. (AB: 5). Appellee never proffered Mr. Rooney's testimony, nor was the Affidavit ever offered or received into evidence. The burden of proof was upon Appellee and Appellant was not obliged to make Appellee's case for him.

On page 10 of his Answer Brief, Appellee cites testimony of David Simmons which he claims shows Mr. Simmon's personal knowledge of the time records of Appellee's attorneys, Mr. Simmons had admitted, however, that he had not verified the accuracy of the Affidavit of Attorneys Time by comparison with the firm's time records. R: 120.

In fact, from Mr. Simmons testimony, it is readily apparent he had no personal knowledge of the total number of hours actually expended by his law firm.

Appellee also contends that the trial Court deferred action on the Motion for Costs on Page 11 of his Answer Brief. The Court did no such thing:

BY THE COURT: Okay, Fine.

Now, what I've done, I have put some little pencil x's here of some things (items of costs) that I definitely wouldn't allow and some x's to things that are subject to finding out whether I would allow them or not.

So, let's go on and finish up our hearing and I'll give you my ruling on costs.

R: 128.

In its ruling, the judge stated he would provide counsel with his copy of the cost Affidavit with his x's showing what was allowed and disallowed, ordered transmittal of copies of all bills which Appellee sought to tax, and asked the parties to come to some agreement on the remaining items. R: 128-129. The Court did not defer ruling on costs. It ruled for and against certain items and left others open to question. It was the decision to leave certain items open for further evidence and not requiring personal testimony of experts as to costs that Appellee objected to.

As a result of the hearing on May 28, 1986, the Trial Judge entered a Final Judgment for attorney's fees for the sum of \$68,391.00 against Appellants. A: 4-5..

Appellants appealed the second Judgment based in part upon the fact that there was no competent substantial evidence introduced upon which to sustain the award of attorney's fees, that the criteria for award of fees was not followed by the Trial Court and the reservation of further hearings for costs was error. The Fifth District Court of

Appeal issued its opinion on May 12, 1988, holding the Appellee was not entitled to attorney's fees as a result of the Court's first opinion in the first appeal, citing res judicata and the law of the case as the basis thereof. The Fifth District did not address the arguments made in the briefs of the parties or argued before the Court. The Court reasoned that Appellee's refusal to close on the Contract was repudiation of the Contract tantamount to recission and thus, no other damage claims of attorney's fees could be claimed as those issues were foreclosed by the first opinion were based on res judicata and law of the case determinations.

Appelee filed his motion and request for rehearing <u>en banc</u> on May 27, 1988. Appellants filed their response and Motion to Strike or Deny Motion for Rehearing June 6, 1988. The Fifth District denied the Motion for Rehearing on June 23, 1988, and Plaintiff then filed a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jursidiction of this Court on July 5, 1988. The Court accepted jurisdiction on October 4, 1988.

Two statements of Appellee is his Initial Brief on The Merits are misrepresented and should be noted by the Court. On page 7, second paragraph, Appellee states "and Judge Pfeiffer, finding that Sellers (Appellant) had been a big factor in the escalated costs of litigation..." Appellant cites for this his Appellees Appendix, Page 1-4). Such statement is not in the appendix and was not found by Judge Pfeiffer in the Final Judgment awarding attorney's fees (A: 4-5). Appellee also states in the third paragraph on the same page 7, "at oral argument, the unreasonablesness argument was abandoned." Such statement is a misrepresentation to this Court. What the Appellant stated was that the amount of the hourly fee customary in the community for Associates and Partners in Appellee's counsel's firm

did not appear unreasonable. However, the number of total hours were unreasaonable and not apportioned. Further, by use of the Affidavit "filed" but not in evidence, no Lodestar could have been determined by the Trial Judge as it showed the hourly rates to range "between \$70.00/hour and \$100.00/hour." Further the time spent by each attorney was not totaled or segregated. Therefore no specific rates could be applied to any specific hours of either attorney to obtain the Lodestar.

POINT I

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN ITS RULING DENYING ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS TO APPELLEE.

The Appellee, KATZ, asks this Court to apply the rules of construction and interpretation of contracts to find that the attorneys fees provision of a repudiated contract affords him recovery. In that regard he cites <u>Sousa v. Palumbo</u>, 426 So. 2d 1072 (Fla 4th DCA 1983).

It is elementary law in Florida that attorneys fees may be awarded only where authorized by contract, statute, or for services by an attorney in bringing into the court an equitable fund or estate.

Estate of Hampton v. Fairchild - Florida Construction Company, 341

So. 2d 759 (Fla 1976), citing <u>Kittel v. Kittel</u>, 210 So. 2d 1,3 (Fla 1967).

In interpretation and construction, a contract must be read and considered as a whole. Triple E Development Co. v. Floridagold Citrus Corp., 51 So. 2d 435 (Fla 1951); Florida Power Corp. v. City of Tallahassee, 18 So. 2d 671 (Fla 1944).

Whether a contract is entire or divisible depends upon the intention of the parties, which may be determined by construction of the terms of the contract itself and by the subject matter to which it has reference. Local No. 234 v. Henley & Beckwith, Inc., 66 So. 2d 818 (Fla 1953).

A contract should be treated as entire and indivisible when, by consideration of its terms, subject matter, nature and purpose,

each and all of its parts appear to be interdependent and common to one another and to the consideration. Local No. 234, supra.

As to dependent and independent covenants, covenants are always considered dependent unless the contrary intention appears. In a bilateral contract, the obligations of the parties are ordinarily mutual and dependent. In doubtful cases the Courts are inclined to treat the covenants as dependent, since the contrary construction would allow one party to have the benefits of a contract without performing it. 11 Fla Jur 2d CONTRACTS Section 142, citing: Walker v. Close , 125 So. 521, (Fla 1929); Sanford v. Cloud , 17 Fla 532 (Fla 1880) and Pratt v. Weeks , 1 F Supp 953 (1932); VOL 17A, C.J.S., CONTRACTS , Section 344(b).

In the instant case no contrary intention appears. The provision as to attorneys fees is neither severable nor independent. In the event the parties had intended the provision to be so, the intention would have been reflected in the language of the provison. For example, the following language could support a finding that an attoneys fees provision was severable or independent:

Attorneys fees:

In the event any litigation shall arise as a result of the negotiation of this contract, representations by either party, failure of a contingency or condition precedent, or if it is determined that no Contract ever existed, and whether the action filed is based upon contract or tort or other legal theories, the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney's fees and costs from the non-prevailing party. This Agreement is independent of the other terms and conditions of this Contract and may be maintained by either party regardless of any ruling by a court that no contract was brought into existence between the parties hereto.

In order to find the attorney's fees provision in the contract in the instant case to be independent, a court would have to

find that intention on the part of the parties. <u>Local No. 234</u>, supra.

That clearly was not the determination of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in its opinions rendered in 1985 or 1988.

As the 5th DCA has noted, it had determined in the first opinion that because the Appellee had repudiated the agreement and recovered the deposit he could not thereafter seek to recover damages under the agreement. See <u>Van Der Noord v. Katz</u>, 526 So. 2d 940 at 941 (Fla 5th DCA 1988). Further, that the Appellee was precluded by res judicata and the law of the case from seeking further attorney's fees or costs and could not have a second bite at the apple. <u>ID</u>, Page 942.

The Appellee did not request rehearing or appeal to the Florida Supreme Court on that point in the first Appeal. It may have been that the full impact of the court's decision in the first Appeal was not realized by the parties prior to the second opinion. Thus, the request by the Appellee for consideration of attorney's fees and costs was not objected to by Appellant. The 5th DCA opinion then became the law of the case. the Appellee now seeks to overturn the second decision, which merely recited Leitman v. Boone, 439 So 2d 318 (Fla 3rd DCa 1983) in passing but was based primarily upon the law of the case and res judicata.

In <u>Van Der Noord</u>, the 5th DCA states at page 941, that after the first appeal the Appellee was not entitled to a new trial on the issue of damages for breach, and that holding was binding upon the trial court.

The trial court's subsequent award of damages contrary to the prior appeallate ruling was the basis of the 5th DCA's second opinion,

not the existence or non-existence, dependence or independence, or severability of a contract clause for attorney's fees.

Nevertheless, in the instant case, to allow repudiation of the contract and recovery of attorney's fees by the Appellee would allow benefits without performance, in the absence of any indication that the parties intended the provision to be independent or severable. Clearly this would be contrary to the rules of contract construction and interpretation as set forth above.

The language of the attorney's fees provision in question does not set forth its independence or severability and such intention cannot be drawn from the language within the provisions.

The Appellee argues that the 5th DCA should have applied the rationale of <u>Sousa v. Palumbo</u>, supra. However <u>Sousa</u> dealt with parties who sought to enforce or interpret the rights or obligations of parties to a contract which was found to exist but to be unenforceable.

In the present case the 5th DCA held that the Appellee's repudiation of the contract also repudiated his rights to the benefits of the contract. This was a voluntary decision by the Appellee. Repudiation of the contract and its benefits applies equally to all provisions unless the contract is severable or contains independent covenants. No such intent can be determined from the contract provisions here.

The 5th DCA's reference to <u>Leitman</u> reflects the Court's determination that the Appellee's voluntary repudiation of the contract extinguished all of the provisions. In <u>Leitman</u> the court found that where a contract did not exist legally an attorney's fees provision could not be enforced unless it could conclude that the

attorney's fees provision was a separable mini-contract, enforceable in and of itself. at $\underline{319}$. The 5th DCA referenced this rationale when it stated:

If a contract never existed obviously no one is a party to it and no one is entitled to recover attorney's fees based on some provision in it. See <u>Leitman v. Boone</u>, 439 So. 2d 318 (Fla 3rd DCA 1983).

Application of the Leitman reasoning here is not flawed. There is nothing to indicate that the attorney's fees provision is meant to survive independently or meant to be severable. Sousa does not conflict with this reasoning. In Sousa the contract was not repudiated. It "existed" but was not enforceable as all conditions precedent required to make the contract enforceable had not occurred. The attorney's fees provision in Sousa was not required to be an independent covenant, a mini-contract or a severable provision to be This is so because the contract itself had not been enforceable. repudiated or found to be non-existent. It existed but was unenforceable. The condition precedent to its enforceability had not occurred to obligate the other party to perform the contract.

In the instant case however, the 5th DCA rightly recognized that the repudiation of the contract is more analogous to the reasoning in Leitman than in Sousa. In Leitman and Van Der Noord the attorney's fees provision has to survive independently to be enforceable.

The Appellee also argues that Florida Law 88-160 amending Section 57.105, Florida Statutes, sets forth as public policy a legislative mandate that all attorney's fees provisions in contracts are to upheld and enforced. Chapter 88-160 however, is plainly an equalization of remedy, affording both parties to a contract the right

to a reasonable attorney's fee when the contract provides recovery for only one party. Classic inequities sought to be cured by the legislature are clauses for attorney's fees in promissory notes and leases as an example, where the holder or lessor is entitled to recover fees upon prevailing but the maker or lessee have no such right upon prevailing. Law 88-160 has not set public policy or altered case law to afford attorney's fees to the prevailing party in every instance. Law 88-160 does not cause attorney's fees to be recoverable to contracting parties where there is no such provision in the contract. Law 88-160 would not alter the decision of a court where the contract was found to have been repudiated, or not exist, or where an attorney's fees provision was not found to be independent of the contract.

Suits based upon fraud in the inducment of a contract with a provision allowing attorney's fees to the prevailing party in litigation "arising out of the contract," have been recently held by the Florida Courts not to allow attorney's fees because the suits were based upon tort and not enforcement of the contract. Hopp v. Smith, 520 So 2d 673 (Fla 4th DCA 1988); Location 100, Inc., v. Gould S.E.L. Computer Systems, Inc., 517 So 2d 700 (Fla 5th DCA 1987); Dade Savings and Loan Association v. Broks Center Limited, 529 So 2d 1775 (Fla 3rd DCA 1988). It is clear that the mere presence in a contract of a clause such as the one found in the contract between Appellant and Appellee, does not automatically afford recovery of attorney's fees to the prevailing party in every situation where litigation is filed in reference to the contract.

POINT II

THE FAILED APPELLEE TO OFFER ANY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF THE AMOUNT OF TIME HIS ATTORNEYS SPENT IN PROSECUTION OF THIS MATTER THROUGH JUDGMENT N.O.V., AND AS A RESULT IS NOT ENTITLED TO ANY AWARD OF ATTORNEYS FEES, IS HE ENTITLED TO A "SECOND BITE AT NOR THE APPLE" BY A REMAND FOR RE-HEARING, JUST AS A PARTY WHO FAILS TO PRODUCE COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF OUT OF POCKET DAMAGES SUSTAINED AS A RESULT OF A PARTY'S BREACH OF CONTRACT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL ON SUCH DAMAGES.

This court, by acceptance of discretionary review on the basis of conflict with prior decisions of District Courts of Appeal, has the duty and responsibility to consider the case on the merits and decide the points in question as though the case had originally come before this Court on appeal. This court should dispose of all contested issues. Smith v. Smith, 160 So 2d 697 (Fla. 1964); Kelly v. Scussel, 167 So 2d 870 (Fla. 1964); St. John v. Michaels, 178 So 2d 193, (Fla. 1965); D'Agostino v. State, 310 So 2d 12 (Fla. 1975); Brown v. State, 206 So 2d 377 (Fla. 1968); Foley v. Weaver Drugs, Inc., 177 So 2d 221 (Fla. 1965); Kennedy v. Kennedy, 303 So 2d 629 (Fla. 1974); Negron v. State, 306 So 2d 104 (Fla. 1974); Friddle v. Seaboard C.L. R. Co., 306 So 2d 97 (Fla. 1974); Florida Constitution, Article 5, Section 4.

Even if this court reverses the Fifth District Court of Appeal by approving <u>Sousa v. Palumbo</u>, <u>supra</u>, and rejecting <u>Leitman v. Boone</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Defendant is still entitled to prevail on the merits based upon the matters argued herein and in the briefs filed with the Fifth District and argued but not ruled upon by that Court.

If this court reverses the Fifth District Court of Appeal but

declines to determine the case on the merits, then it should remand the case to the Fifth District Court of Appeal for determination on the merits. North Shore Hospital, Inc., vs. Barber, 143 So 2d 849 (Fla. 1962).

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